

NOAA Technical Report NMFS Circular 423 Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States Crustacea: Cumacea

Les Watling

April 1979

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service

# NOAA TECHNICAL REPORTS

## National Marine Fisheries Service, Circulars

The major responsibilities of the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) are to monitor and assess the abundance and geographic distribution of fishery resources, to understand and predict fluctuations in the quantity and distribution of these resources, and to establish levels for optimum use of the resources. NMFS is also charged with the development and implementation of policies for managing national fishing grounds, development and enforcement of domestic fisheries regulations, surveillance of foreign fishing off United States coastal waters, and the development and enforcement of international fishery agreements and policies. NMFS also assists the fishing industry through marketing service and economic analysis programs, and mortgage insurance and vessel construction subsidies. It collects, analyzes, and publishes statistics on various phases of the industry.

The NOAA Technical Report NMFS Circular series continues a series that has been in existence since 1941. The Circulars are technical publications of general interest intended to aid conservation and management. Publications that review in considerable detail and at a high technical level certain broad areas of research appear in this series. Technical papers originating in economics studies and from management investigations appear in the Circular series.

NOAA Technical Report NMFS Circulars are available free in limited numbers to governmental agencies, both Federal and State. They are also available in exchange for other scientific and technical publications in the marine sciences. Individual copies may be obtained (unless otherwise noted) from D825, Technical Information Division, Environmental Science Information Center, NOAA, Washington, D.C. 20235. Recent Circulars are:

365. Processing EASTROPAC STD data and the construction of vertical temperature and salinity sections by computer. By Forrest R. Miller and Kenneth A. Bliss. February 1972, iv + 17 p., 8 figs., 3 app. figs. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

366. Key to field identification of anadromous juvenile salmonids in the Pacific Northwest. By Robert J. MacConnell and George R. Snyder. January 1972, iv + 6 p., 4 figs. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

367. Engineering economic model for fish protein concentration processes. By K. K. Almenas, L. C. Durilla, R. C. Ernst, J. W. Gentry, M. B. Hale, and J. M. Marchello. October 1972, iii + 175 p., 6 figs., 6 tables. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

368. Cooperative Gulf of Mexico estuarine inventory and study, Florida: Phase I, area description. By J. Kneeland McNulty, William N. Lindall, Jr., and James E. Sykes. November 1972, vii + 126 p., 46 figs., 62 tables. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

369. Field guide to the anglefishes (Pomacanthidae) in the western Atlantic. By Henry A. Feddern. November 1972, iii + 10 p., 17 figs. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

370. Collecting and processing data on fish eggs and larvae in the California Current region. By David Kramer, Mary J. Kalin, Elizabeth G. Stevens, James R. Thrailkill, and James R. Zweifel. November 1972, iv + 38 p., 38 figs., 2 tables. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

371. Ocean fishery management: Discussion and research. By Adam A. Sokoloski (editor). (17 papers, 24 authors.) April 1973, vi + 173 p., 38 figs., 32 tables, 7 app. tables.

372. Fishery publications, calendar year 1971: Lists and indexes. By Thomas A. Manar. October 1972, iv + 24 p., 1 fcg. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.F. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

374. Marine flora and fauna of the northeastern United States. Annelida: Oligochaeta. By David G. Cook and Ralph O. Brinkhurst. May 1973, iii + 23 p., 82 figs. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

375. New Polychaeta from Beaufort, with a key to all species recorded from North Carolina. By John H. Day. July 1973, xiii + 140 p., 18 figs., 1 table. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

376. Bottom-water temperatures on the continental shelf, Nova Scotia to New Jersey. By John B. Colton, Jr. and Ruth R. Stoddard. June 1973, iii + 55 p., 15 figs., 12 app. tables. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402. 377. Fishery publications, calendar year 1970: Lists and indexes. By Mary Ellen Engett and Lee C. Thorson. December 1972, iv + 34 p., 1 fig. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

378. Marine flora and fauna of the northeastern United States. Protozoa: Ciliophora. By Arthur C. Borror. September 1973, iii + 62 p., 5 figs. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

379. Fishery publications, calendar year 1969: Lists and indexes. By Lee C. Thorson and Mary Ellen Engett. April 1973, iv + 31 p., 1 fig. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

380. Fishery publications, calendar year 1968: Lists and indexes. By Mary Ellen Engett and Lee C. Thorson. May 1973, iv + 24 p., 1 fig. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

381. Fishery publications, calendar year 1967: Lists and indexes. By Lee C. Thorson and Mary Ellen Engett. July 1973, iv + 22 p., 1 fig. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

382. Fishery publications, calendar year 1966: Lists and indexes. By Mary Ellen Engett and Lee C. Thorson. July 1973, iv + 19 p., 1 fig. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

383. Fishery publications, calendar year 1965: Lists and indexes. By Lee C. Thorson and Mary Ellen Engett. July 1973, iv + 12 p., 1 fig. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

384. Marine flora and fauna of the northeastern United States. Higher plants of the marine fringe. By Edwin T. Moul. September 1973, iii + 60 p., 109 figs. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

385. Fishery publications, calendar year 1972: Lists and indexes. By Lee C. Thorson and Mary Ellen Engett. November 1973, iv + 23 p., 1 fig. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

386. Marine flora and fauna of the northeastern United States. Pycnogonida. By Lawrence R. McCloskey. September 1973, iii + 12 p., 1 fig. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

387. Marine flora and fauna of the northeastern United States. Crustacea: Stomatopoda. By Raymond B. Manning. February 1974, iii + 6 p., 10 figs. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

# NOAA Technical Report NMFS Circular 423



Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States. Crustacea: Cumacea

Les Watling

April 1979

### **U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE**

Juanita M. Kreps, Secretary

#### National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration

Richard A. Frank, Administrator Terry L. Leitzell, Assistant Administrator for Fisheries

## National Marine Fisheries Service

#### FOREWORD

This issue of the "Circulars" is part of a subseries entitled "Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States." This subseries will consist of original, illustrated, modern manuals on the identification, classification, and general biology of the estuarine and coastal marine plants and animals of the northeastern United States. Manuals will be published at irregular intervals on as many taxa of the region as there are specialists available to collaborate in their preparation.

The manuals are an outgrowth of the widely used "Keys to Marine Invertebrates of the Woods Hole Region," edited by R. I. Smith, published in 1964, and produced under the auspices of the Systematics-Ecology Program, Marine Biological Laboratory, Woods Hole, Mass. Instead of revising the "Woods Hole Keys," the staff of the Systematics-Ecology Program decided to expand the geographic coverage and bathymetric range and produce the keys in an entirely new set of expanded publications.

The "Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States" is being prepared in collaboration with systematic specialists in the United States and abroad. Each manual will be based primarily on recent and ongoing revisionary systematic research and a fresh examination of the plants and animals. Each major taxon, treated in a separate manual, will include an introduction, illustrated glossary, uniform originally illustrated keys, annotated check list with information when available on distribution, habitat, life history, and related biology, references to the major literature of the group, and a systematic index.

These manuals are intended for use by biology students, biologists, biological oceanographers, informed laymen, and others wishing to identify coastal organisms for this region. In many instances the manuals will serve as a guide to additional information about the species or the group.

Geographic coverage of the "Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States" is planned to include organisms from the headwaters of estuaries seaward to the approximately 200-m depth on the continental shelf from Maine to Virginia, but may vary somewhat with each major taxon and the interests of collaborators. Whenever possible representative specimens dealt with in the manuals will be deposited in the reference collections of major museums in the region.

After a sufficient number of manuals of related taxonomic groups have been published, the manuals will be revised, grouped, and issued as special volumes. These volumes will thus consist of compilations of individual manuals within phyla such as the Cnidaria, Arthropoda, and Mollusca, or of groups of phyla.

#### CONTENTS

Introduction	1
External morphology	1
Internal morphology	3
Development and life history	4
Ecology and distribution	4
Key to Cumacea	5
Annotated systematic list	19
Selected bibliography	20
Systematic index	22
Acknowledgments	23
Coordinating editors comments	23

The National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) does not approve, recommend or endorse any proprietary product or proprietary material mentioned in this publication. No reference shall be made to NMFS, or to this publication furnished by NMFS, in any advertising or sales promotion which would indicate or imply that NMFS approves, recommends or endorses any proprietary product or proprietary material mentioned herein, or which has as its purpose an intent to cause directly or indirectly the advertised product to be used or purchased because of this NMFS publication.

# Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States. Crustacea: Cumacea<sup>1</sup>

LES WATLING<sup>2</sup>

#### ABSTRACT

This manual includes an introduction on the external and interanl morphology, development, life history, ecology and distribution, an illustrated key, an annotated systematic list, a selected bibliography, and an index to the 34 species of cumacean peracarid crustaceans occurring in waters shallower than 200 m from Nova Scotia to Chesapeake Bay.

#### INTRODUCTION

Cumaceans are small (1-10 mm in length) peracarid crustaceans which are found in all seas from the shallowest brackish waters to depths greater than 7,000 m. Jones (1969) listed 770 known species belonging to 82 genera. Of these, 257 were known from a single sample and 169 from single specimens. The cumaceans from the northeastern United States are reasonably well known, at least in nearshore and continental shelf waters. This is due primarily to the efforts of Sars (1871, 1900), Calman (1912), and Zimmer (1943). Zimmer (in prep.) listed 49 species which had been found in the region from Newfoundland to south of Cape Hatteras in shallow to abyssal waters. The 34 species occurring in waters shallower than 200 m from Nova Scotia to Chesapeake Bay are treated in the present account. Workers interested in North American species outside this region should consult Zimmer (1944), Bacescu (1971), and Watling (1977) for subtropical and tropical species, and Jones (1969, 1973), Bacescu (1972), Bacescu and Muradian (1974a, b) and Reyss (1974a, b) for recently described deepwater species.

The Cumacea are an order of the Superorder Peracarida in the Subclass Malacostraca. They are distinguished from other peracarids in having the following combination of features: the carapace is fused dorsally with the first three or four, or rarely six thoracic somites; the telson is present, reduced, or incorporated into the last abdominal somite; the eyes are fused dorsally; the second antennae lack an exopodite; and pleopods are absent in the female (with one exception) and often reduced in number or absent in the male.

#### EXTERNAL MORPHOLOGY

The carapace (Fig. 1, c) is fused with at least the first three thoracic somites, rarely with as many as six, and is strongly extended laterally to form a branchial cavity. Anteriorly, each side of the carapace is produced in the form of pseudorostral lobes (Fig. 1, pl). The two pseudorostral lobes project forward in contact with, but not fused with each other to form a pseudorostrum. Often, projecting anteriorly beyond the pseudorostrum are the tips of the branchial exopodites of the first maxilliped. These come together anteriorly, and with the pseudorostrum form the siphon(s), or exhalant canal for the respiratory current. In some genera, for example, Eudorella and Eudorellopsis, the pseudorostral lobes are reflexed upwards and no pseudorostrum is apparent although a siphon is still formed. Other features of the carapace include the antennal notch (an) located below the pseudorostrum, and the frontal lobe (fl) from which the ocular lobe protrudes anteriorly. The carapace may be either completely smooth or variously sculptured with grooves, ridges, spines, or tubercles, and may be more or less covered with hairs.

The cephalothorax consists of the carapace and the free (uncovered) thoracic somites (Fig. 1, T4, T8). The latter may also be variously ornamented, occasionally bearing spines dorsally or along the lateral margins, and in many cases having minutely or coarsely serrate anterior margins. The abdomen or pleon (PL1, PL6) consists of six somites of which the fifth is usually the longest. In some families a variable number of pleonal somites bear posteroventral appendages, the pleopods. The sixth pleonal somite never has pleopods but bears paired uropods (Fig. 1, u) and, in three families, an independent telson (t). In the remaining families, the telson is coalesced with the sixth pleonal somite. The anus and associated protective flaps are located either terminally on the sixth pleonal somite or at the base of the telson.

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Contribution No. 125 of the Ira C. Darling Center.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Department of Oceanography, Ira C. Darling Center, University of Maine, Walpole, ME 04573.



Figure 1.—Side view of a cumacean and the seven anterior appendages. A1, antenna 1; A2, antenna 2; Md, mandible; Mx1, maxilla 1; Mx2 maxilla 2; Mxp1, maxilliped 1; Mxp2, maxilliped 2; P1, pereopod 1; P5, pereopod 5; PL1, pleon somite 1; PL6, pleon somite 6; T4, thoracic somite 4; T8, thoracic somite 8; af, accessory flagellum; an, antennal notch; b, basis; br, branchial apparatus; c, carapace; co, coxa; ex, exopod fl, frontal lobe; ip, incisor process; lm, lacinia mobilis; mf, main flagellum; mp, molar process; o, oostegite; pa, palp; pl, pseudorostral lobe; s, siphon; t, telson; u, uropod.

The first antenna (antennula) (Fig. 1, A1) consists of a three-articled<sup>3</sup> peduncle, the third article of which bears two rami. The longer of these rami is referred to as the main flagellum (mf) and may consist of, at most, six articles. The other ramus, the accessory flagellum (af), is usually shorter and may have as many as four articles although most frequently it is uniarticulate and occasionally absent.

The second antenna (antenna) (Fig. 1, A2) is rudimentary in the female but, with one exception, is strongly developed in the male. In the female the antenna may consist of one to five articles; in the male there is a fivearticled peduncle which bears a multiarticulate flagellum.

The mandible (Fig. 1, Md) in cumaceans is a simple structure. It consists of one article, lacking a palp. A strong molar process (mp) and a more or less toothed incisor process (ip) characterize its structure. On the left mandible, near the incisor process, is a small movable tooth called the lacinia mobilis (lm) which is a feature peculiar to all peracarids.

The first maxilla (maxillule) (Fig. 1, Mx1) is a small flattened appendage located just ventral to the labium.

It consists of a three-articled protopod, the first and third articles of which bear terminally setose or spinose lobes termed endites, and a uniarticulate, backwardly directed palp (pa).

The second maxilla (maxilla) (Fig. 1, Mx2) consists of a three-articled protopod, of which only the third article bears an endite. On the outer side of the third article is a thin, half-oval plate, which is the reduced exopod.

The first maxilliped (Fig. 1, Mxp1) is in reality the highly modified first thoracic appendage, or thoracopod. It normally consists of seven articles. The coxa bears the epipod, modified as a branchial apparatus. This structure, which may be very elaborate, is composed of an anteriorly directed siphonal part (s), and a backwardly directed branchial part. The latter bears the branchial lobules (br) (gills) arranged either in a simple row or an open spiral. The remainder of the appendage extends forward and aids in the manipulation of food in the vicinity of the mouth.

The second maxilliped (Fig. 1, Mxp2) is the modified second thoracopod. This appendage is characterized by its elongate basis (b), which may be longer than the remainder of the leg. In some species the ischium may be absent. The coxae (co) of this appendage pair are usually contiguous along the midline of the body and in females bear posteriorly directed setose lobes which are thought to be rudimentary oostegites (o).

The third maxilliped (Fig. 2, Mxp3) (thoracopod 3) consists of the usual seven articles, and in many species bears a natatory exopod (ex). Here, as with the previous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The divisions of a crustacean appendage have variously been referred to as segments, joints, articles, or podomeres. Since these divisions should not be considered as segments (a term which is more properly applied to the subdivisions of the body), nor as joints (which are, in fact, the flexible parts of the exoskeleton which facilitate bending) the terms article or podomere are preferred.



Figure 2.—Thoracic appendages, telson, and uropod of a cumacean. Mxp3, maxilliped 3; P1, 2, 3, 5, percopods 1-3, 5; T, telson; U, uropod; a, anus; b, basis; co, coxa; d, dactyl; en, endopod; ex, exopod; p, propodus.

appendage, the basis (b) is often much longer than the remainder of the leg. It should also be noticed that the exopod is attached to the basis proximally and the remainder of the leg, which is considered to be the endopod, is attached distally.

The remaining five pairs of thoracopods (4-8), pereopods 1-5, (Fig. 2, P1-3, 5), are fundamentally similar in structure to the third maxilliped, consisting of two protopod and five endopod articles. An exopod may be present on any of these legs except the last. The first two pairs of pereopods are generally directed forward, the last three pairs posteriorly.

The pleopods are always absent in females and may either be present or absent in males. There may be a maximum of five pairs, but three, two, or one pair also occur. They are attached ventrally on the posterior margin of each somite and consist of a coxa, basis, and two rami which bear long, plumose setae. In immature males the rami are not fully developed and the plumose setae are absent.

The last pair of appendages are the uropods (Fig. 2, U).

They consist of an uniarticulate peduncle which bears a two-articled outer ramus (exopod, ex) and an inner ramus (endopod, en) of one to three articles.

Paired penes are known only from two deep-sea genera, Archaeocuma, from the Peru Trench, and Campylaspenis from off Cape Hatteras, both occurring at below 3,000-m depth. In Archaeocuma the lobes are short, conical, and well separated, whereas in Campylaspenis there is a single, very long bifid lobe. In both cases the penes are located between the bases of pereopod 5.

#### INTERNAL MORPHOLOGY

The nervous system consists of a supraesophageal ganglionic mass and a ventral chain of 17 paired ganglia. The ganglia of the mouthparts and the first maxilliped are close together, but the following 13 pairs remain well separated with the members of each pair nearly fused in the midline. The sessile compound eyes are coalesced dorsally in the midline. Other sense organs include the esthetascs (or asthetes), modified setae on the antennules which probably function as olfactory organs.

The digestive system consists of the typical foregut, midgut, and hindgut sections. The foregut, derived from the embryonic stomodaeum, is lined with chitin and is subdivided into esophageal and stomachal regions. The stomach walls are irregularly thickened for mastication and are also provided with numerous stiff setae which act as a filtering mechanism. At the junction between the stomach and the midgut are one to four pairs of posteriorly directed finger-shaped caeca. The midgut is similar in size to the stomach. The chitin-lined hindgut, derived from the embryonic proctodaeum, often extends through most of the thorax and the abdomen and opens either ventrodistally on the last body somite or ventrally midway along the telson.

The excretory system consists of a pair of maxillary glands, so-named because the ducts open to the outside of the body at the base of the maxillae.

Respiration occurs through the branchial epipod of the first maxilliped as well as through the inner surface of the carapace in this region.

The heart extends from the third to the fifth or seventh thoracic somites and is penetrated by only a single pair of ostia. There is an anteriorly directed aorta which expands into a cerebral heart in the head. The heart also gives off three or four pairs of lateral arteries and a posterior aorta. The blood is unpigmented.

The sexes are separate. The gonads in either sex consist of paired tubes situated in the thorax above or to the sides of the gut. The oviducts open on the insides of the coxae of pereopod 3 (thoracopod 6) while the vasa deferentia open through two adjacent papillae located on the last thoracic sternite. Females, when mature, bear oostegites on thoracopods 3-6 which form the brood, or incubatory, pouch.

#### DEVELOPMENT AND LIFE HISTORY

Gnewuch and Croker (1973) observed in the laboratory mating of the intertidal species *Mancocuma stellifera*. They noted that in all cases the female moulted prior to oviposition, which occurred 12-96 h later. Presumably the eggs were fertilized as they were released into the marsupium. No other observations of mating in cumaceans have been made although several instances of precopula have been noted from field collections.

Eggs are carried in the brood pouch where they hatch as a nauplius and remain to moult three more times, finally reaching the manca stage. The manca resembles the adult but lacks the last pair of pereopods. The young now leave the brood pouch and moult several more times until the subadult ("Vorbereitungstadium" in the papers of Zimmer) is reached. At this stage, the gonads begin to mature and the secondary sexual characters become apparent. The animal then moults to the adult stage (from Zimmer the "Brutkleid" stage for the female and "Hochzeitkleid" stage for the male) where the secondary sex characters are fully developed and reproduction occurs. Further moulting and reproduction may occur after sexual maturity is reached.

Life history data are thus far available for only four of the species which occur in the region from Labrador to Cape Hatteras. Of these, M. stellifera and Diastylis sculpta (Gnewuch and Croker 1973; Corey 1976) have been studied in American waters, while the data for Iphinoe trispinosa and D. rathkei have been obtained from European studies (Corey 1969; Forsman 1938; Krüger 1940). Corey (1976) noted that shallow-water and intertidal species such as M. stellifera, D. sculpta, and I. trispinosa have two breeding generations per year, in the summer and in the fall. In contrast, the deeper water D. rathkei released young only in the winter. Maximum life spans also varied with time of release of young. Those released in early summer lived about 5 mo (the summer generation) whereas those released in late summer and fall (the winter generation) lived about 12 and 9 mo, respectively. The single generation of D. rathkei had a life span of about  $1^{1/2}$  yr.

#### ECOLOGY AND DISTRIBUTION

Cumaceans are dwellers of the benthos, leaving the sediment only during hours of darkness. They live partially or completely buried in the sediment, feeding for the most part by filtering small particles from below the sediment surface or by grazing material from the surfaces of individual grains. The genus *Campylaspis*, whose mouthparts appear to be modified for piercing, may feed on Foraminifera or small, interstitial crustaceans (Jones 1973).

Many cumacean species are known to migrate into the plankton especially at night. The diurnal migration pattern of *D. rathkei* was critically examined by Anger and Valentin (1976). They noted that moulting occurred only in the plankton, and also, perhaps as a response to predation pressures, only at night. In fact no *D. rathkei* was observed to leave the sediment during the day. Mating also occured during a short nocturnal swarming period.

Most cumacean species inhabit sediments whose grains lie within a narrow size range. On the continental shelf off the Ivory Coast, LeLoeuff and Intes (1972) found only 2 of the 19 species with wide sediment grain-size tolerances. Most species in fact will not settle on sediment whose grains are too fine or too coarse. Dixon (1944) suggested that since the respiratory current comes through the sediment in which the animal is buried, a preponderance of fine grains could cause clogging of the respiratory and particle filter-feeding apparatus. Wieser (1956) suggested that the preference of *Cumella vulgaris* for a certain substratum was dependent on the amount and sort of food available.

The depth and latitudinal distributions of the 34 species considered in this study are outlined in Table 1. Four species are found in brackish waters, and nine others in nearshore shallow marine waters. With the exception of four species whose distributions include the

continental slope, the remaining species are found at mid- to outer continental shelf depths. Seventeen species have been found only in the northern part of the region, while 13 others ranged from north of George's Bank to off Chesapeake Bay; only 4 of the species considered have not been found north of the region.

Table 1.—Depth and latitudinal	l distribution of cumaceans	s found in the region from	Newfoundland to off Chesapeake Bay	y.
(AA = amphi)	Atlantic; $B = found in bracket$	ackish water; NA = North	American endemic).	

George's Bank and north	Newfoundland to Chesapeake Bay	Maine to Chesapeake Bay
Nearshore shallow water:		
Eudorella difficilis (NA)	Pseudoleptocuma minor (NA)	Cyclaspis pustulata (B, NA)
Eudorella emarginata (AA)	Mancocuma stellifera (B, NA)	Cyclaspis varians (B, NA)
Eudorella truncatula (AA)	Eudorella pusilla (NA)	Leucon americanus (NA)
	Diastylis polita (NA)	Almyracuma proximoculi (B, NA
	Oxyurostylis smithi (NA)	
Mid- to outer continental shelf:		
Iphinoe trispinosa (AA)	Eudorella hispida (NA)	
Leucon nasicoides (AA)	Eudorellopsis deformis (AA)	
Campylaspis affinis (AA)	Campylaspis rubicunda (AA)	
Lamprops quadriplicata (NA)	Petalosarsia declivis (AA)	
Lamprops fuscata (AA)	Diastylis abbreviata (NA)	
Brachydiastylis resima (AA)	Diastylis quadrispinosa (NA)	
Diastylis lucifera (AA)	Diastylis cornuifer (NA)	
Diastylis rathkei (AA)	Diastylis sculpta (NA)	
Leptostylis ampullacea (AA)		
Leptostylis longimana (AA)		
Continental shelf and slope:		
Eudorellopsis hiplicata (NA)		
Eudorellopsis integra (NA)		
Leucon nasica (AA)		
Diastylis goodsiri $(\Delta \Delta)$		

#### **KEY TO CUMACEA**

1		With independent telson (Figs. 2, 21, 23)
1		Without independent telson (Figs. 3, 6)
2	(1)	Endopod of uropod consists of 1 article (Fig. 3)
2	(1)	Endopod of uropod consists of 2 articles (Fig. 8)
3	(2)	Exopod on P1 only
3	(2)	Exopod on at least P1 and P2

(3) Endopod of uropod with lateral spines (Fig. 3) ..... Cyclaspis varians



(3) Endopod of uropod without lateral spines (Fig. 4) .....

..... Cyclaspis pustulata

Figure 4.-Cyclaspis pustulata, uropod.





Figure 5.—Almyracuma proximoculi, side view and uropod.

- Addingung there en

6 (5) Mxp3, 4th article as long as wide; uropod peduncle serrate along inner margin (Fig. 6) ..... Campylaspis rubicunda Figure 6.—*Campylaspis rubicunda*, side view, uropod, and maxilliped 3.

 6 (5) Mxp3, 4th article twice as long as wide; uropod peduncle smooth, not serrate along inner margin (Fig. 7) ..........Campylaspis affinis

> Figure 7.—Campylaspis affinis, uropod and maxilliped 3.

5



(0)	I			lant	D1	in an all	DO
121	Exopod	on	ar	least	PI	and	PZ.
1.201	LAUDUU		- U.U.	10 USU		CLARCE.	

uropod, and pereopods 1 and 2.

. . . . . .8

(7)	Pseudorostrum distinct and produced either anteriorly or dorsally (Figs. 11, 14)	)
(7)	Pseudorostrum weak; carapace blunt anteriorly (Fig. 9)	1





0	(8)	Pseudorostrum produced anteriorly	
0	(8)	Pseudorostrum truncate anteriorly,	efferent orifice dorsal



Figure 11.-Leucon americanus, side view and uropod.



Figure 12.—Leucon nasicoides, carapace and uropod.

12 (11) Uropod, exopod with 8 or more long setae on inner margin (Fig. 13) ..... Leucon nasica





 15 (14) Uropod, exopod with several long setae, peduncle article twice as long as wide (Fig. 15) ...



16 (13)	Uropod, exopod medial margin with 7 or more long setae	17
16 (13)	Uropod, exopod medial margin with less than 6 long setae	18

17 (16) Uropod, exopod longer than endopod basal article; P2, article 5 nearly twice the length of article 4; P3, article 4 twice the length of article 3 (Fig. 17) ..... Eudorella hispida

Figure 17.-Eudorella hispida, uropod (after Hansen 1920) and pereopod 3. Figure 18.-Eudorella emarginata, pereopod 3 and uropod (after Sars 1900). 17 (16) Uropod, exopod shorter than endopod basal

article; P2, article 5 approximately equal
in length to article 4; P3, articles 3 and 4
subequal in length (Fig. 18) .... Eudorella emarginata



Figure 19.-Eudorella pusilla, side view, pereopod 2, and uropod.

Figure 20.—*Eudorella truncatula*, uropod and pereopod 3 (after Sars 1900).

19 (1) Telson short, rounded, without spines (Fig. 21) .....Petalosarsia declivis



19 (1) Telson elongate, pointed, with spines ...... 20



20 (19) Telson without apical spine (Fig. 22) .....Oxyurostylis smithi

Figure 22.-Oxyurostylis smithi, side view and telson and uropod.

21	(20)	Telson with 5 apical spines	22
21	(20)	Telson with 2 apical spines	23

 22 (21) Telson, terminal spines, outer pair or outer 2 pairs longer than middle spine (Fig. 23) ..... Lamprops fuscata

Figure 23.-Lamprops fuscata, telson and uropod.



22 (21) Telson, terminal spines, outermost and middle spines approximately equal in length (Fig. 24)

......Lamprops guadriplicata



Figure 24.-Lamprops quadriplicata, side view and telson and uropod.

- 23 (21) Telson short, as long as or shorter than last somite; caparace without oblique lateral ridges;
- 23 (21) Telson elongate, much longer than last somite, with at least 3 pairs of lateral spines; carapace may be sculptured with strong, oblique, lateral ridges; uropod, exopod generally as long as or

24 (23) Peduncle of uropod more than twice as long as telson (Fig. 25) ..... Leptostylis longimana



Figure 26.-Leptostylis ampullacea. telson and uropod.

25 (23) Female with upturned rostrum; male P2, article 6 extending distally as a spinous process (Fig. 27) ......Brachydiastylis resima



Figure 27.—Brachydiastylis resima, side view of female and male pereopod 1 (after Sars 1900).

26 (25)	Fifth pedigerous somite with dorsal median spine or pair of spines; carapace without oblique	
	lateral ridges	.27
26 (25)	Fifth pedigerous somite without dorsal spines; carapace may have oblique lateral ridges	.29

27 (26) Fifth pedigerous somite with single median dorsal spine; telson equal in length to peduncle of uropod (Fig. 28) ..... Diastylis quadrispinosa

Figure 28.-Diastylis quadrispinosa, side view.

28 (27) Carapace with lateral row of anteriorly directed spines; all pedigerous and some abdominal somites with lateral spines (Fig. 29) ..... Diastylis cornuifer

Figure 29.-Diastylis cornuifer, dorsal view.

Figure 30.-Diastylis abbreviata, dorsal view.



30 (29) Carapace without spines, but sculptured with strong vertical oblique ridges (Fig. 31) ..... Diastylis polita

Figure 31.-Diastylis polita, side view.

30 (29) Carapace with variable number of spines, without strong vertical oblique ridges (Fig. 32) ...



Figure 32.-Diastylis rathkei, side view.



32 (31) P1 with few plumose setae, telson with few (4 or 5) pairs of lateral spines (Fig. 35) ..... Diastylis lucifera



Figure 35.—*Diastylis lucifera*, side view and telson and uropod.



#### ANNOTATED SYSTEMATIC LIST

The following is a list of the Cumacea from this region arranged systematically according to family, with genera listed alphabetically within a family, and similarly for the species within a genus. Notes on distinguishing features, possible synonymous species, geographic distribution along the Atlantic coast of North America, habitat preferences, depth ranges, and references to complete descriptions are given. Jones (1969) should be consulted for keys to world genera in each family.

#### CLASS CRUSTACEA

#### Order Cumacea

- Family Bodotriidae. No independent telson; generally 5 pairs, occasionally 3, 2, or 0 pairs of pleopods in males; exopodites on thoracic appendages in the combinations 2 normal and 2 rudimentary, 3 normal and 2 rudimentary, or 4 normal and 1 rudimentary; inner ramus of uropods of 1 or 2 articles.
- Subfamily Bodotriinae. Only first pair of pereopods with exopods; 5 pairs of pleopods in males.
- Cyclaspis pustulata Zimmer, 1943. Known only from 18-m depth in Chesapeake Bay. Specimens very small, 2 mm in length. Zimmer.<sup>4</sup>
- Cyclaspis varians Calman, 1912. Common. From Sheepscot River, Maine, to Chesapeake Bay, primarily in mesohaline waters. Surface (in plankton) to 20 m. Calman 1912.
- Iphinoe trispinosa (Goodsir, 1843). A northern species occurring sporadically in the northern part of our region. Surface to 150 m. Sars 1900; Corey 1969.
- Subfamily Mancocuminae. Exopods on more than the first pair of pereopods; less than 5 pairs of pleopods in males.
- Pseudoleptocuma minor (Calman, 1912). Until recently considered to belong in the genus Leptocuma. Common. Gulf of St. Lawrence to Chesapeake Bay in fully marine water. On clean sandy bottoms, 8-25 m. Calman 1912; Watling 1977.
- Mancocuma stellifera Zimmer, 1943. Abundant in selected localities. This species is probably identical to *M. altera* Zimmer, 1943. Gulf of St. Lawrence to Chesapeake Bay. Intertidal sandy beaches to shallow subtidal, marine and estuarine. Zimmer, see footnote 4.
- Family Leuconidae. No independent telson; 2 (rarely 1 or 0) pairs of pleopods; thoracic exopodites, male 5 (rarely 3) pairs, female 4 (rarely 3) pairs; inner ramus of uropod nearly always of 2 articles.

- Eudorella difficilis Blake, 1929. Rare. Not in key. Recorded only from Maine. Muddy bottoms, 10-15 m. Blake 1929. May be synonymous with *E. pusil*la.
- Eudorella emarginata (Krøyer, 1846). Rare. Newfoundland to Cape Cod. Sandy mud bottoms, 20-60 m. Sars 1900; Calman 1912.
- Eudorella hispida Sars, 1871. Rare. Nova Scotia to off New Jersey (Watling unpubl. data). Usually taken on muddy bottoms, 10-120 m. Sars 1871; Calman 1912.
- Eudorella pusilla Sars, 1871. Common. Calman (1912) suggested that this species was not significantly different from the European species *E. truncatula* but, in a reevaluation of original material of both species, Zimmer (see footnote 4) noted consistent differences separating the two species. Gulf of St. Lawrence to off New Jersey (Watling, unpubl. data). Mud, sand, and gravel bottoms, 2-100 m. Calman 1912; Zimmer, see footnote 4. Male not adequately described.
- Eudorella truncatula (Bate, 1855). Rare. Because of the difficulties in separating this species from *E. pusilla* its distribution is not well documented; however, it probably does not occur south of George's Bank. Sars 1900.
- Eudorellopsis biplicata Calman, 1912. Rare. Off Nova Scotia, 100-1,600 m. Calman 1912.
- Eudorellopsis deformis (Krøyer, 1846). Moderately common. Off Nova Scotia to off Delaware, 15-75 m. Sars 1900; Calman 1912; Watling, unpubl. data.
- Eudorellopsis integra (S.I. Smith, 1879). Moderately common. Gulf of St. Lawrence to Gulf of Maine. Sandy mud to sand and gravel bottoms, 50-1,500 m. (Not adequately illustrated.)
- Leucon americanus Zimmer, 1943. Common in estuarine to nearshore marine habitats from Maine to South Carolina. Surface (in plankton) to 50 m. Zimmer 1943; Zimmer, see footnote 4.
- Leucon nasica (Krøyer, 1841). Rare. Newfoundland to Gulf of St. Lawrence. Shallow water to 700 m. Sars 1900.
- Leucon nasicoides Lilljeborg, 1855. Rare. Newfoundland to Maine, 50-120 m. Sars 1900.
- Family Nannastacidae. No independent telson; no pleopods in males; thoracic exopodites, male 5 (rarely 4 or 3) pairs, female generally 3 (rarely 4 or 0) pairs; inner ramus of uropod of one article.
- Almyracuma proximoculi Jones and Burbanck, 1959. Common. Massachusetts to North Carolina. In locations of very low or highly fluctuating salinity, 1-10 m on muddy sand to gravelly bottoms. Jones and Burbanck 1959; Boesch and Diaz 1974.
- Campylaspis affinis Sars, 1870. Calman (1912) referred five specimens from off Martha's Vineyard, Mass., (65 m) to this species. Sars 1900.
- Campylaspis rubicunda (Lilljeborg, 1855). Moderately common. Gulf of Maine to off New Jersey (Watling, unpubl. data). Fine sandy mud and shell bottoms, 12-65 m. Sars 1900.

<sup>&#</sup>x27;This manuscript, prepared by Zimmer in 1938, was sent to the Smithsonian Institution for publication, but for various reasons it was never issued. A partial synopsis was subsequently published by Zimmer (1943). In 1975 the manuscript was given to me by Thomas E. Bowman for further editing. It is planned to submit the edited manuscript under Zimmer's name to the Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology.

- Family Lampropidae. Telson present, usually with 3 or more terminal spines; 3 or 0 pairs of pleopods in males; thoracic exopodites, male 5 pairs, female 3 normal and 2 rudimentary, rarely 2 normal or 2 normal and 2 rudimentary pairs; inner ramus of uropod of 3 articles.
- Lamprops quadriplicata S.I. Smith, 1879. Common. Calman (1912) noted that the features used to distinguish this species from the European *L. fasciata* Sars, 1863, were considerably variable, and consequently he suggested the two species may be synonymous. From off Newfoundland to Massachusetts, 2-65 m. (Not adequately illustrated.)
- Lampropos fuscata Sars, 1865. Rare. Newfoundland to Nova Scotia. Shallow water to 150 m. Sars 1900.
- Family Pseudocumatidae. Telson present, small; 2 pairs of somewhat rudimentary pleopods in males; thoracic exopodites, male 5 pairs, female 3 normal and 2 rudimentary pairs; inner ramus of uropods of 1 article.
- Petalosarsia declivis (Sars, 1865). Common. Off Newfoundland to off Delaware (Watling, unpubl. data). Surface (plankton) to 160 m. Sars 1900.
- Family Diastylidae. Telson present, with 2 or 0 terminal spines; 2 or 0 pairs of pleopods in males; thoracic exopodites, male 5, rarely 3 pairs, female 3 normal, 3 normal and 2 rudimentary, or rarely 2 normal or 0 pairs; inner ramus of uropod of 2 or 3 articles, rarely of one article.
- Brachydiastylis resima (Krøyer, 1846). Rare. Off Nova Scotia, 100 m. Sars 1900.
- Diastylis abbreviata Sars, 1871. Rare. Gulf of Maine to off New Jersey, 30-70 m. Zimmer, see footnote 4.
- Diastylis cornuifer (Blake, 1929). Moderately common. This species was described from the Mount Desert region of Maine, and was subsequently documented from Casco Bay, Maine, and the Cape Cod region by Zimmer. Gulf of Maine to off New Jersey (Watling, unpubl. data), 2-200 m. Zimmer, see footnote 4. (There are no complete figures of *D. cornuifer.*)
- Diastylis goodsiri (Bell, 1855). Rare in the New England region, being found only in deeper water (150-400 m) from off Nova Scotia. Sars 1900.
- Diastylis lucifera (Krøyer, 1841). Rare. Nova Scotia to Gulf of Maine, 10-140 m. Sars 1900.
- Diastylis polita (S.I. Smith, 1879). Common. Newfoundland to off Delaware (Watling, unpubl. data). Surface to 300 m, but most common in waters of 20-40 m. Calman, 1912. (There are no complete figures of *D. polita.*)
- Diastylis quadrispinosa (Sars, 1871). This species was considered by Calman (1912) to be synonymous with *D. bispinosa* (Stimpson, 1853) but he chose not to use the older name. Since the name *D. quadrispinosa* is so widely used it has been adopted here. Extremely abundant; from off Nova Scotia to Cape Hatteras. Muddy to clean sand and gravel bottoms, surface (plankton) to 200 m. Calman 1912.

- Diastylis rathkei (Krøyer, 1841). Zimmer (1926, 1930) divided this species into *D. rathkei* and *D. glabra*, each with several geographic subspecies. For this study it was not possible to demonstrate consistent differences between these two forms and therefore *D. glabra* is considered here to be a morphological variant. Rare in the Newfoundland to Nova Scotia region, 75-200 m. Calman 1912; Zimmer 1926, 1930.
- Diastylis sculpta Sars, 1871. Common. Prince Edward Island (Northumberland Straits) to off New Jersey (Watling, unpubl. data). Most commonly 7-65 m, occasionally to 400 m; sand and gravel to sandy mud bottoms. Sars 1871; Calman 1912.
- Leptostylis ampullacea (Lilljeborg, 1855). Rare. Gulf of Maine, 18-165 m. Sars 1900; Zimmer, see footnote 4.
- Leptostylis longimana (Sars, 1865). Rare. Maine to Massachusetts, 21-125 m. Sars 1900.
- Oxyurostylis smithi Calman, 1912. Common. Maine to Louisiana, estuarine and marine. Surface to 45 m. Calman 1912.

#### SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

ANGER, K., and C. VALENTIN.

1976. In situ studies the diurnal activity pattern of *Diastylis rath*kei (Cumacea, Crustacea) and its importance for the 'hyperbenthos'. Helgol. wiss. Meeresunters 28:138-144.

BÁCESCU, M.

- New cumacea from the littoral waters of Florida (Caribbean Sea). Trav. Mus. Hist. Nat. 'Grigore Antipa' 11:5-23.
- 1972. Archaeocuma and Schizocuma, new genera of Cumacea from the American tropical waters. Rev. Roum. Biol. Ser. Zool. 17:241-250.

BACESCU, M., and Z. MURADIAN.

- 1974a. Campylaspenis, Styloptocuma, Atlantocuma, new genera of Cumacea from the deep waters of the Atlantic. Rev. Roum. Biol. 19:71-78.
- 1974b. Floridocuma selvakumarani gen. nov., sp. nov. and Bathycumella est-africana gen. nov., sp. nov. - new Nannastacidae (Cumacea) from over 2000 m depth. Trav. Mus. Hist. Nat. 'Grigore Antipa' 15:103-110.
- BLAKE, C. H.
  - 1929. Part 3. Crustacea. Biological survey of the Mount Desert Region. New Crustacea from the Mount Desert Region. Wistar Inst. Anat. Biol., Phila., 34 p.

BOESCH, D. F., and R. J. DIAZ.

1974. New records of peracarid crustaceans from oligohaline waters of the Chesapeake Bay. Chesapeake Sci. 15:56-59.

CALMAN, W. T.

1912. The Crustacea of the Order Cumacea in the collection of the United States National Museum. Proc. U.S. Natl. Mus. 41:603-676.

COREY, S

1969. The comparative life histories of three Cumacea (Crustaces): Cumopsis goodsiri (Van Beneden), Iphinöe trispinosa (Goodsir), and Pseudocuma longicornis (Bate). Can. J. Zool. 47:695-704.

1976. The life history of *Diastylis sculpta* Sars, 1871 (Crustacea: Cumacea) in Passamaquoddy Bay, New Brunswick. Can. J. Zool. 54:615-619.

DIXON, A. Y.

1944. Notes on certain aspects of the biology of *Cumopsis goodsiri* (Van Beneden) and some other cumaceans in relation to their environment. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc., U.K. 26:61-71.

FORSMAN, B.

1938. Untersuchungen über die Cumaceen des Skageraks. Zool. Bidr. Upps. 18:1-162. GNEWUCH, W. T., and R. A. CROKER.

1973. Macroinfauna of northern New England marine sand. I. The biology of *Mancocuma stellifera* Zimmer, 1943 (Crustacea: Cumacea). Can. J. Zool. 51:1011-1020.

HANSEN, H. J.

1920. Crustacea Malacostraca. IV. Dan. Ingolf-Exped. 3(Part 6):1-86.

JONES, N. S.

- 1969. The systematics and distribution of Cumacea from depths exceeding 200 meters. Galathea Rep. 10:99-180.
  - 1973. Some new Cumacea from deep water in the Atlantic. Crustaceana 25:297-319.

- 1959. Almyracuma proximoculi gen. et sp. nov. (Crustacea, Cumacea) from brackish water of Cape Cod, Massachusetts. Biol. Bull. (Woods Hole) 116:115-124.
- KRÜGER, VON K.
- 1940. Zur lebensgeschichte der Cumacea Diastylis rathkei (Kröyer) in der Westlichen Ostsee. Kiel. Meeresforsch. 3:374-402.
- LeLOEUFF, P., and A. INTES.
- 1972. Les cumacés du plateau continental de Côte d'Ivoire. Cah. O.R.S.T.O.M., Sér. Océanogr. 10:19-46.

REYSS, D.

1974a. Contribution à l'étude des Cumacés de profondeur de l'Atlantique Nord: le genre *Makrokylindrus* Stebbing. Crustaceana 26:5-28.

1974b. Contribution à l'étude des Cumacés de profondeur en Atlantique: le genre *Diastyloides* Sars, 1900. Crustaceana 27:285-293.

SARS, G. O.

- 1871. Beskrivelse af de paa Fregatten Josephines expedition fundne Cumaceer. K. Sven. Vetenskapsakad. Handl. 9:1-57.
- 1900. An account of the Crustacea of Norway, with short descriptions and figures of all the species. III. Cumacea. Bergen Museum, 115 p.

WATLING, L.

1977. Two new genera and a new subfamily of Bodotriidae (Crustacea: Cumacea) from eastern North America. Proc. Biol. Soc. Wash. 89:593-598.

WIESER, W.

1956. Factors influencing the choice of substratum in Cumella vulgaris Hart (Crustacea, Cumacea). Limnol. Oceanogr. 1:274-285. ZIMMER, C.

- 1926. Northern and Arctic invertebrates in the collection of the Swedish State Museum. X. Cumaceen. K. Sven. Vetenskapsakad. Handl. Ser. 3, 3:1-88.
- 1930. Untersuchungen an Diastyliden (Ordnung Cumacea). Mitt. Zool. Mus. Berlin 16:583-658.
- 1943. Über neue und weniger bekannte Cumaceen. Zool. Anz. 141:148-167.
- 1944. Cumaceen des tropischen Westatlantiks. Zool. Anz. 144:121-137.

JONES, N. S., and W. D. BURBANCK.

#### SYSTEMATIC INDEX

Almyracuma proximoculi 6, 19
Archaeocuma
Bodotriidae
Bodotriinae
Brachydiastylis resima 16, 20
Campylaspenis
Campylaspis 4
affinis
rubicunda 6, 19
Cumella vulgaris 4
Cyclaspis
pustulata
varians
Diastylidae
Diastylis
abbreviata
cornuifer 16, 20
glabra
goodsiri
lucifera 18, 20
polita
quadrispinosa
rathkei
sculpta
Eudorella 1
difficilis
emarginata
hispida
pusilla

truncatula	, 19
Eudorellopsis	1
<i>biplicata</i>	, 19
deformis 11	, 19
integra 12	, 19
Iphinoe trispinosa4, 8	, 19
Lampropidae	. 20
Lamprops	
fasciata	. 20
fuscata 14	, 20
quadriplicata	, 20
Leptocuma	. 19
Leptostylis	
ampullacea 15	, 20
longimana 15	, 20
Leucon	
americanus	, 19
nasica 10	, 19
nasicoides 10	, 19
Leuconidae	. 19
Mancocuma	
altera	. 19
stellifera 4, 9	, 19
Mancocuminae	. 19
Nannastacidae	. 19
Oxyurostylis smithi14	, 20
Petalosarsia declivis 14	, 20
Pseudocumatidae	. 20
Pseudoleptocuma minor	, 19

Preparation of the "Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States" is being coordinated by the following Board:

#### Coordinating Editor:

Melbourne R. Carriker, College of Marine Studies, University of Delaware, Lewes, DE 19958.

#### Editorial Advisers:

Marie B. Abbott, 259 High Street, Coventry, Conn.

- Arthur G. Humes, Boston University Marine Program, Marine Biological Laboratory, Woods Hole, Mass.
- Wesley N. Tiffney, Professor Emeritus, Boston University, 226 Edge Hill Road, Sharon, Mass.
- Ruth D. Turner, Museum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.

 Roland L. Wigley, National Marine Fisheries Service, Northeast Fisheries Center, NOAA, Woods Hole, Mass.
Robert T. Wilce, Department of Botany, University of Massachusetts, Amherst, Mass.

The Board established the format for the "Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States," invites systematists to collaborate in the preparation of manuals, reviews manuscripts, and advises the Scientific Editor of the National Marine Fisheries Service.

The author would like to thank Thomas Bowman, Division of Crustacea, Smithsonian Institution, and Roland Wigley, NMFS, Woods Hole, for the loan of material from which many of the drawings were prepared and for critically reading the manuscript. The illustrations are the work of Margaret Macy. Special thanks go to Melbourne Carriker for his continued support of this work.

#### COORDINATING EDITOR'S COMMENTS

Publication of the "Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States" is most timely in view of the growing universal emphasis on environmental work and the urgent need for more precise and complete identification of coastal organisms than has been available. It is mandatory, wherever possible, that organisms be identified accurately to species. Accurate scientific names unlock the great quantities of biological information stored in libraries, obviate duplication of research already done, and often make possible prediction of attributes of organisms that have been inadequately studied.

Les Watling began his studies on cumaceans while at the College of Marine Studies, University of Delaware, where he received his doctoral degree. In 1975 he joined the faculty of the Oceanography Department, University of Maine, at Orono, where the manual on cumaceans was completed. Besides his continuing work with cumaceans, Watling also is engaged in studies of the systematics and ecology of amphipod crustaceans as well as in quantitative aspects of marine benthic ecology.

Preparation of this manual was supported in part by a grant from the Environmental Protection Agency to the Editorial Board of the "Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States." Work on the "Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States" by the Coordinating Editor is supported by the College of Marine Studies, University of Delaware.

Manuals are available from the following:

- Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington DC 20402, for a charge.
- User Service Branch, Library and Information Services, Division D822, Washington Science Center, Building 4, Rockville, MD 20852, at no charge as long as the supply lasts.
- National Technical Information Services, U.S. Department of Commerce, 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, VA 22161, either as paper copy or microfiche, for a charge.

Manuals are not copyrighted, and so may be photocopied from the NOAA Technical Report NMFS Circulars available in most major libraries.

The manuals so far published in the NOAA Technical Report NMFS Circular series are listed below by author, title, circular number, and NTIS accession number:

	Circular	
MARINE FLORA AND FAUNA OF THE NORTHEASTERN UNITED STATES:	No.	NTIS No.
COOK, DAVID G., and RALPH O. BRINKHURST. Annelida: Oligochaeta.	374	COM 73 50670/LL
BORROR, ARTHUR C. Protozoa: Ciliophora.	378	
MOUL, EDWIN T. Higher Plants of the Marine Fringe.	384	COM 74 50019/LL
McCLOSKEY, LAWRENCE R. Pycnogonida.	386	
MANNING, RAYMOND B. Crustacea: Stomatopoda.	387	COM 74 50487/LL
WILLIAMS, AUSTIN B. Crustacea: Decapoda.	389	COM 74 51194/LL
POLLOCK, LELAND W. Tardigrada.	394	PB 257987/AS
LARSON, RONALD J. Cnidaria: Scyphozoa.	397	PB 261839/AS
CAVALIERE, A. R. Higher Fungi: Ascomycetes, Deuteromycetes, and Basiomycetes.	398	PB 268036/LL
COULL, BRUCE C. Copepoda: Harpacticoida.	399	PB 268714/AS
CUTLER, EDWARD B. Sipuncula.	405	PB 273062/AS
PAWSON, DAVID L. Echinodermata: Holothuroidea.	405	PB 274999/LL
HO, JU-SHEY. Copepoda: Lernaeopodida and Sphyriidae.	406	PB 280040/AS
HO, JU-SHEY. Copepoda: Cyclopoids Parasitic on Fishes.	409	PB 281969/LL
CRESSEY, ROGER F. Crustacea: Branchiura.	413	PB 222923/5ST
BOVEE, EUGENE C., and THOMAS K. SAWYER. Protozoa: Sarcodina: Amoebae.	419	
WATLING LES. Crustacea: Cumacea.		

#### ERRATA

NOAA Technical Report NMFS Circular 401: Fisheries and Fishery Resources of New York Bight, by J. L. McHugh

Page 1, footnote 2: Contribution 000 should read: Contribution 179 Page 46, left column, paragraph 3, line 7: (McHugh 2976b) should read: (McHugh in press b)

NOAA Technical Report NMFS Circular 413: Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States. Crustacea: Branchiura, by Roger F. Cressey

Page 6, line 3, right side: Correct scientific name to read: Argulus stizostethi Page 6, line 4, right side: Correct scientific name to read: Argulus catostomi 388. Proceedings of the first U.S.-Japan meeting on aquaculture at Tokyo, Japan, October 18-19, 1971. William N. Shaw (editor). (18 papers, 14 authors.) February 1974, iii + 133 p. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

389. Marine flora and fauna of the northeastern United States. Crustacea: Decapoda. By Austin B. Williams. April 1974, iii + 50 p., 111 figs. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

390. Fishery publications, calendar year 1973: Lists and indexes. By Mary Ellen Engett and Lee C. Thorson. September 1974, iv + 14 p., 1 fig. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

391. Calanoid copepods of the genera *Spinocalanus* and *Mimocalanus* from the central Arctic Ocean, with a review of the Spinocalanidae. By David M. Damkaer. June 1975, x + 88 p., 225 figs., 4 tables. For sale

by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

392. Fishery publications, calendar year 1974: Lists and indexes. By Lee C. Thorson and Mary Ellen Engett. June 1975, iv + 27 p., 1 fig.

Cooperative Gulf of Mexico estuarine inventory and study—Texas:
Area description. By Richard A. Diener. September 1975, vi + 129 p., 55 figs., 26 tables.

394. Marine Flora and Fauna of the Northeastern United States. Tardigrada. By Leland W. Pollock. May 1976, iii + 25 p., figs. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

395. Report of a colloquium on larval fish mortality studies and their relation to fishery research, January 1975. By John R. Hunter. May 1976, iii + 5 p. For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.